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INTRODUCTION 

Section 1215 of the Civil Service Reform Act (“CSRA”) comprehensively outlines the 

“disciplinary action[s]” federal employees face for violating “any law . . . within the jurisdiction” 

of the Office of Special Counsel (“OSC”), including the Hatch Act.  5 U.S.C. § 1215.  The 

statute grants OSC discretion to first determine whether an employee has violated the Hatch Act 

and, if so, whether that violation warrants disciplinary action.  But once OSC explicitly 

“determines” those predicates are met, section 1215 imposes an unequivocal command: OSC 

“shall” commence proceedings against the employee in the Merit Systems Protection Board 

(“MSPB”).  Id. § 1215(a)(1).  As a matter of agency enforcement policy, however, OSC 

disregards section 1215(a)(1)’s mandatory duty in cases against non-Senate-confirmed 

presidential appointees, opting instead to refer those appointees to the President for disciplinary 

action.  In doing so, OSC erroneously invokes an exception to the MSPB enforcement scheme, 

section 1215(b), that expressly applies only to Senate-confirmed presidential appointees. 

In this suit under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), Plaintiff Citizens for 

Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (“CREW”) seeks to compel OSC’s compliance with its 

mandatory duty under section 1215(a)(1).  Count I of CREW’s complaint challenges OSC’s 

failure to commence MSPB proceedings against Counselor to the President Kellyanne Conway, 

despite making the “determinations” specified in section 1215(a)(1) in response to CREW’s 

Hatch Act complaints.  Count II challenges OSC’s overall non-enforcement policy.  OSC now 

moves to dismiss, asserting that CREW lacks standing and has failed to state an APA claim.  

Neither ground for dismissal has merit. 
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 CREW has organizational standing.  In this Circuit, a plaintiff can show organizational 

injury by plausibly alleging that (1) the challenged conduct materially impedes a “means” or 

“avenue[] of redress” that it “wish[es] to use” as part of the “routine . . . activities” it undertakes 

in furtherance of its mission, including filing administrative complaints with an agency; and (2) 

it “used its resources to counteract that harm.”  PETA v. USDA, 797 F.3d 1087, 1093-94 (D.C. 

Cir. 2015); Action Alliance of Senior Citizens v. Heckler, 789 F.2d 931, 937-38 (D.C. Cir. 1986); 

see also PETA v. USDA, 7 F. Supp. 3d 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2013) (Boasberg, J.).   

 CREW readily satisfies both prongs.  CREW routinely files Hatch Act complaints against 

presidential appointees with OSC in furtherance of its mission of ensuring integrity in 

government.  By unlawfully refusing to commence MSPB proceedings in response to CREW’s 

complaints, OSC forecloses a critical “avenue of redress” for CREW by precluding its 

allegations from reaching the agency Congress charged with adjudicating Hatch Act violations—

the MSPB—and by otherwise diminishing the effectiveness of CREW’s complaints.  To 

counteract OSC’s unlawful conduct, CREW has used its resources to pursue alternative avenues 

of redress, separate and apart from its normal process of submitting complaints to OSC.  Because 

these harms are materially indistinguishable from those alleged in PETA and Action Alliance, 

CREW has more than adequately alleged organizational injury.  OSC’s arguments to the contrary 

misapprehend both the Circuit’s organizational standing precedent and CREW’s injuries. 

 CREW has also adequately pleaded causation and redressability.  Proceeding from the 

false premise that CREW’s “real” injury is Conway’s “non-removal” from the White House,  

OSC insists that CREW’s injury was not caused by the agency, and cannot be redressed by this 

Court.  But that is a red herring—CREW asserts no such injury, nor is redressability contingent 
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on Conway’s removal.  OSC makes the same mistake as the agency in PETA by 

“misconstru[ing] [CREW’s] alleged harms,” which “do not result from [violations of the Hatch 

Act] by third parties but rather from ‘lack of redress for its complaints.’”  PETA, 797 F.3d at 

1095 (quoting PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 9).  Those injuries are “traceable to its interactions with 

the agency” and would be redressed by a favorable decision.  PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 9. 

 Turning to the merits, OSC tries to escape section 1215(a)(1)’s clear command in several 

ways, but none are availing.  It first argues that a later-enacted statute—authorizing the President 

“to appoint and fix the pay of employees in the White House Office [(“WHO”)] without regard 

to any other provision of law regulating the employment or compensation of persons in the 

Government service,” 3 U.S.C. § 105(a)(1)—impliedly repealed or amended the CSRA’s 

enforcement scheme as it relates to WHO employees.  But under longstanding Supreme Court 

precedent, there is a “strong presumption” against implied repeals and amendments, and OSC 

falls woefully short of its “heavy burden” to overcome that presumption by showing that the 

statutes “irreconcilably conflict.”  Nor could it, as the statutes can be readily harmonized.  

Indeed, section 1215(a)(1) only requires OSC to commence MSPB proceedings, and the mere 

commencement of such proceedings in no way impedes the President’s authority “to appoint and 

fix the pay” of WHO employees.  And once MSPB proceedings have commenced, OSC is free to 

seek disciplinary actions—such as monetary penalties or a reprimand—that have no bearing on 

the WHO employee’s continued employment or compensation.  Insofar as there is any conflict 

between the two statutes, then, it is far from “irreconcilable.”    

 OSC fares no better in arguing that its commencement of MSPB proceedings under 

section 1215(a)(1) is “committed to agency discretion by law” and thus unreviewable under the 
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APA.  In Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985), the Supreme Court made clear that this “very 

narrow” exception to APA review does not apply where, as here, a statute unequivocally requires 

an agency to take clearly-defined enforcement action upon making specified “determinations.”  

Id. at 828, 830.  Chaney even pointed to a statute strikingly similar to section 1215(a)(1) as “an 

example of statutory language which supplied sufficient standards” to permit APA review.  See 

id. at 833 (“[U]pon filing of a[n administrative] complaint by a union member, ‘[t]he Secretary 

[of Labor] shall investigate such complaint and, if he finds probable cause to believe that a 

violation . . . has occurred . . . he shall . . . . bring a civil action.’”).  Much like that statute, 

section 1215(a)(1) “quite clearly withdr[a]w[s] discretion from [OSC] and provide[s] guidelines 

for exercise of its enforcement power” by requiring it to “file [an MSPB complaint] if certain 

‘clearly defined’ factors [are] present.”  Id. at 834.  Unable to overcome section 1215(a)(1)’s 

mandatory language, OSC embarks on a lengthy and convoluted argument insisting that a 

separate provision in a separate section of the CSRA using the word “may” negates the “shall” in 

section 1215(a)(1).  But that reading is unsupported by any principle of statutory construction, 

and is incompatible with even OSC’s reading of other provisions of the CSRA. 

 As a fallback, OSC resorts to constitutional avoidance principles, urging the Court to 

accept its erroneous reading of section 1215(a)(1) to avoid “serious separation of powers 

concerns.”  But those “concerns” are illusory.  They are based, in the first instance, on OSC’s 

continued mischaracterization of CREW’s requested relief, which would in no way impede the 

President’s employment decisions in the WHO.  OSC’s concerns are also wholly speculative 

since they depend on a hypothetical chain of events where OSC itself seeks, and the MSPB 

agrees to impose, discipline that OSC now asserts is constitutionally problematic.  At any rate, 
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even the constitutional avoidance canon cannot save OSC’s clearly erroneous interpretation of 

section 1215(a)(1) because it is not one the statutory text “fairly admits.” 

 Equally meritless is OSC’s claim that Count II fails to sufficiently allege that the agency 

has a non-enforcement policy.  As identified in CREW’s complaint and attached exhibits, OSC 

announced its non-enforcement policy in an official report issued in March 2018, signed by the 

Special Counsel himself, stating as follows: “The U.S. Constitution confers on the President 

authority to appoint senior officers of the United States, such as Ms. Conway.  Considering the 

President’s constitutional authority, the proper course of action, in the case of violations of the 

Hatch Act by such officers, is to refer the violations to the President” under “5 U.S.C. § 

1215(b).”  Compl. ¶ 31 (quoting Compl. Ex. 1) (emphasis added).  OSC, moreover, does not 

dispute that it in fact has such a policy, and all but confirms as much by arguing it is statutorily 

prohibited from commencing MSPB proceedings against presidential appointees in the WHO. 

 For all these reasons, the Court should deny OSC’s motion to dismiss. 

BACKGROUND 

I. Legal Background 
 

A. The Hatch Act’s Restrictions on Federal Employees’ Political Activity 
 
 Enacted in 1939, the Hatch Act reflects the longstanding “judgment of Congress, the 

Executive, and the country . . . that partisan political activities by federal employees must be 

limited if the Government is to operate effectively and fairly, elections are to play their proper 

part in representative government, and employees themselves are to be sufficiently free from 

improper influences.”  U.S. Civil Serv. Comm’n v. Nat’l Ass’n of Letter Carriers, 413 U.S. 548, 

564 (1973).  The statute also embodies Congress’s view that the “Government work force should 
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not be employed to build a powerful, invincible, and perhaps corrupt political machine,” and that 

“it is not only important that the Government and its employees in fact avoid practicing political 

justice, but it is also critical that they appear to the public to be avoiding it.”  Id. at 565.   

 To those ends, the Hatch Act restricts the political activity of “any individual, other than 

the President and the Vice President, employed or holding office in … an Executive agency other 

than the Government Accountability Office,” including presidential appointees employed in the 

WHO.  5 U.S.C. § 7322(1).  Specifically, the Act prohibits covered employees from using their 

“official authority or influence for the purpose of interfering with or affecting the result of an 

election,” id. § 7323(a)(1), which includes using one’s “official title while participating in 

political activity,” 5 C.F.R. § 734.302(b)(1).  “Political activity” is defined as “an activity 

directed toward the success or failure of a political party, candidate for partisan political office, 

or partisan political group.”  Id. § 734.101.   

B. The Civil Service Reform Act Enforcement Scheme 
 
 The Hatch Act’s enforcement scheme is set out in the Civil Service Reform Act 

(“CSRA”).  Enacted in 1978, the CSRA “comprehensively overhauled the civil service system.”  

Lindahl v. OPM, 470 U.S. 768, 773-74 (1985).  “A leading purpose of the CSRA was to replace 

the haphazard arrangements for administrative and judicial review of personnel action, part of 

the ‘outdated patchwork of statutes and rules built up over almost a century’ that was the civil 

service system.”  United States v. Fausto, 484 U.S. 439, 444 (1988).  In place of this “patchwork 

system,” the CSRA established “an integrated scheme of administrative and judicial review, 

designed to balance the legitimate interests of the various categories of federal employees with 

the needs of sound and efficient administration.”  Id. at 445.  
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 The CSRA created both OSC and the MSPB.  OSC is an independent investigative and 

prosecutorial agency charged with enforcing the Hatch Act, among other statutes.  See 5 U.S.C. 

§§ 1211-19.  It “is empowered to investigate allegations of Hatch Act violations and to present 

them to the MSPB.”  Am. Fed’n of Gov’t Emps. (“AFGE”) v. O’Connor, 747 F.2d 748, 753 

(D.C. Cir. 1984).  The MSPB is an independent quasi-judicial agency that serves as the guardian 

of federal merit systems.  It has original jurisdiction over Hatch Act complaints filed by OSC, 5 

U.S.C. § 1204(a)(1), and is charged with adjudicating those complaints and imposing appropriate 

disciplinary action, id. § 1215(a)(3)(A); id. § 7326.   

 OSC’s core duties are detailed in three CSRA sections: section 1214 concerns “prohibited 

personnel practices”; section 1216 outlines “[o]ther matters” within OSC’s jurisdiction, 

including Hatch Act violations; and section 1215 comprehensively sets forth the “disciplinary 

actions” federal employees face for violating “any law” within OSC’s jurisdiction.  Id. §§ 1214, 

1216, 1215.  While these provisions vest OSC with discretion as to how to conduct its Hatch Act 

investigations, they also impose certain mandatory duties on the agency. 

First, section 1216(a)(1) directs that “the Special Counsel shall . . . conduct an 

investigation of any allegation concerning . . . political activity prohibited under” the Hatch Act.  

5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(1) (emphasis added).  As OSC acknowledges, this provision imposes a 

“mandatory duty to investigate a federal Hatch Act complaint.”  Mot. at 30; see also Barnhart v. 

Devine, 771 F.2d 1515, 1525-26 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (“[A]n aggrieved employee may . . . seek a 

writ of mandamus to compel the OSC to investigate a complaint” and “may seek limited judicial 

review of . . . whether the Special Counsel’s investigation of the complaint constituted an 

adequate discharge of the Office’s responsibilities under the CSRA.”).  Any person may file a 

Case 1:19-cv-03757-JEB   Document 12   Filed 05/22/20   Page 14 of 57



 
8 

 
 
 
 

complaint with OSC alleging that a federal employee has violated the Hatch Act, see 5 C.F.R. § 

1800.1(d), thus triggering OSC’s mandatory duty to investigate.   

 Second, if after its investigation OSC “determines” both that an employee has violated 

the Hatch Act and that disciplinary action is warranted, section 1215(a)(1) mandates that it 

“shall” commence MSPB proceedings against the employee.  Specifically, the statute provides: 

(a)(1) Except as provided in subsection (b), if the Special Counsel determines that 
disciplinary action should be taken against any employee for having— . . .  
 
(B) violated the provisions of any law, rule, or regulation, or engaged in any other 
conduct within the jurisdiction of the Special Counsel as described in section 1216, . . . 
 
the Special Counsel shall prepare a written complaint against the employee containing 
the Special Counsel’s determination, together with a statement of supporting facts, and 
present the complaint and statement to the employee and the [MSPB], in accordance with 
this subsection. 

 
5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1) (emphasis added).  Section 1215(b) carves out a limited exception for 

Senate-confirmed presidential appointees; for those appointees, OSC shall present its complaint 

“to the President for appropriate action in lieu of” presenting it to the MSPB.  Id. § 1215(b). 

OSC’s “present[ation]” of a complaint to the MSPB commences adversarial proceedings 

against the employee, in which the employee is entitled to, among other things, “a reasonable 

time to answer orally and in writing, and to furnish affidavits and other documentary evidence in 

support of the answer”; “be represented by an attorney or other representative”; “a hearing before 

the [MSPB] or an administrative law judge appointed under section 3105 and designated by the 

[MSPB]”; and “written decision and reasons therefor at the earliest practicable date, including a 

copy of any final order imposing disciplinary action.”  Id. § 1215(a)(2).  

If the MSPB finds the allegations meritorious, it can take a range of disciplinary actions 

against the employee, including assessment of a civil penalty of $1,112 per violation, reprimand, 
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suspension, reduction in grade, debarment from federal service for up to five years, removal, or 

“any combination of [these] penalties.”  Id. § 1215(a)(3)(A); id. § 7326; 5 C.F.R. § 1201.126(a).  

But the MSPB’s ability to perform its adjudicatory and disciplinary functions is contingent on 

OSC first “present[ing]” a complaint to the MSPB in accordance with section 1215(a)(1).   

II. OSC’s Refusal to Commence MSPB Proceedings Against Non-Senate-Confirmed 
Presidential Appointees in Accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1) 

 
 As noted, the CSRA does not exempt non-Senate-confirmed presidential appointees from 

the MSPB enforcement scheme.  Yet CREW has not uncovered, nor has OSC pointed to, a single 

case in which OSC has commenced MSPB proceedings against any type of presidential 

appointee.  By all accounts, the most prominent example of OSC’s lack of such enforcement is 

the case of Kellyanne Conway. 

 Conway was appointed Counselor to the President on January 20, 2017.  Compl. ¶ 29.  

Since her appointment, she has openly violated the Hatch Act no fewer than 60 times (and 

counting).  Id.  In response to complaints received in late 2017, OSC conducted an investigation 

and issued a report in March 2018 finding that “Conway violated the Hatch Act on two separate 

occasions” by expressing support for a Republican candidate for U.S. Senate.  Id. ¶ 30.  But 

instead of commencing MSPB proceedings against her, OSC sent its report “to the President for 

appropriate disciplinary action” pursuant to “5 U.S.C. § 1215(b),” even though Conway is not 

Senate confirmed and section 1215(b) thus does not apply to her.  Id. ¶ 31. OSC explained that it 

made this decision pursuant to a broader non-enforcement policy relating to presidential 

appointees, which it described as follows: “The U.S. Constitution confers on the President 

authority to appoint senior officers of the United States, such as Ms. Conway.  Considering the 
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President’s constitutional authority, the proper course of action, in the case of violations of the 

Hatch Act by such officers, is to refer the violations to the President.”  Id. (emphasis added).  

The President took no disciplinary action against Conway in response to OSC’s report, and 

Conway continued to flagrantly violate the Hatch Act.  Id. ¶¶ 32-33.   

 CREW later filed two complaints against Conway with OSC, first in October 2018 and 

then in May 2019, alleging that she appeared to violate the Hatch Act by promoting the 

Republican Party and President Trump’s campaign slogan through Twitter, and by expressing 

political views about candidates in upcoming elections in media interviews.  Id. ¶¶ 34, 36.  In 

response to CREW’s complaints, OSC issued a report to President Trump in June 2019 

“detailing numerous violations of the Hatch Act committed by . . . Conway” and recommending 

that the President “remove Ms. Conway from her federal position immediately.”  Id. ¶ 37.  

OSC’s report deemed many of CREW’s allegations meritorious.  Id.  OSC also stressed that 

Conway’s case was unprecedented: “Never has OSC had to issue multiple reports to the 

President concerning Hatch Act violations by the same individual.”  Id.  Like the March 2018 

report, the June 2019 report states OSC was referring Conway’s “violations to the President” 

under section 1215(b).  Id.  The President summarily rejected OSC’s recommendation, telling the 

press, “No, I’m not going to fire [Conway] . . . She’s been loyal.”  Id. ¶ 40.   

In August 2019, CREW sent OSC a letter urging it to “take additional steps to ensure 

compliance with and enforcement of the Hatch Act,” including “filing complaints in the [MSPB] 

against non-Senate-confirmed presidential appointees whose actions, like Ms. Conway’s, OSC 

has found violated the Hatch Act and warrant disciplinary action.”  Id. ¶ 43.  CREW also noted 

that after OSC’s June 2019 non-enforcement decision, Conway and other White House officials 
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continued to openly violate the Act.  Id.  OSC took no formal action in response to this letter.   

III. This Lawsuit 
 
 Left with no other means to challenge OSC’s inaction on its Hatch Act complaints, 

CREW filed this suit on December 17, 2019.  Count I of CREW’s complaint asserts that “OSC’s 

failure to file an MSPB complaint against Conway in accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 1215 is 

‘unlawfully withheld’ agency action,” and “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or 

otherwise not in accordance with law,” in violation of the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(1), 706(2)(A).  

Compl. ¶¶ 57-65.  Count II asserts that OSC’s “policy of categorically not filing MSPB 

complaints against non-Senate-confirmed presidential appointees” is “arbitrary, capricious, an 

abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law,” in violation of the APA, 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706, and 5 U.S.C. § 1215.  Id. ¶¶ 66-71.  CREW seeks an order (1) declaring OSC’s non-

enforcement policy and its non-enforcement decision as to Conway unlawful, (2) compelling 

OSC to commence MSPB proceedings against Conway, and (3) barring OSC from invoking its 

non-enforcement policy in response to CREW’s Hatch Act complaints.  Id. at 23.  OSC now 

moves to dismiss, asserting that CREW lacks standing and has failed to state a valid APA claim. 

ARGUMENT 

I. CREW Has Organizational Standing 
 
 CREW proceeds under the doctrine of “‘organizational standing,’” which “‘requires it, 

like an individual plaintiff, to show actual or threatened injury in fact that is fairly traceable to 

the alleged illegal action and likely to be redressed by a favorable court decision.’”  PETA, 797 

F.3d at 1093.  The “Supreme Court has made plain that a ‘concrete and demonstrable injury to 

[an] organization’s activities—with the consequent drain on the organization’s resources’— . . . 
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suffices for standing.”  Id. (quoting Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363, 379 (1982)).  

Refining this inquiry, the D.C. Circuit has adopted a two-part test for organizational injury, 

asking “first, whether the agency’s action or omission to act ‘injured the [organization’s] 

interest’ and, second, whether the organization ‘used its resources to counteract that harm.’”  Id. 

at 1094 (quoting Equal Rights Ctr. v. Post Props., 633 F.3d 1136, 1140 (D.C. Cir. 2011)).   

 “[A]t the pleading stage,” a plaintiff is “required only to ‘state a plausible claim’ that 

each of the standing elements is present.”  Attias v. Carefirst, Inc., 865 F.3d 620, 625 (D.C. Cir. 

2017).  Thus, “general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s conduct may 

suffice, for on a motion to dismiss [courts] presum[e] that general allegations embrace those 

specific facts that are necessary to support the claim.”  Osborn v. Visa Inc., 797 F.3d 1057, 1063-

64 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (quoting Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992)).  Moreover, 

“[f]or purposes of the standing inquiry,” the Court must “assume [CREW] would succeed on the 

merits of [its] claim[s].”  Barker v. Conroy, 921 F.3d 1118, 1124 (D.C. Cir. 2019). 

 OSC claims that CREW has not met the first step of the organizational injury test, that it 

lacks a cognizable interest in how OSC responds to its Hatch Act complaints, and that it cannot 

show causation or redressability.  Mot. at 12-17.  OSC is wrong on all counts.   

A. CREW Has Sufficiently Pleaded Organizational Injury 

1. OSC’s Refusal to Commence Statutorily-Mandated MSPB 
Proceedings Forecloses a Critical Avenue of Redress for CREW’s 
Hatch Act Complaints 

 
 In this Circuit, a plaintiff may satisfy the first step of the organizational injury test by 

alleging that the challenged conduct materially impedes a “means” or “avenue[] of redress” that 

the organization “wish[es] to use” as part of the “routine . . . activities” it undertakes in 
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furtherance of its mission, such as filing administrative complaints with an agency.  PETA, 797 

F.3d at 1093-94; Action Alliance, 789 F.2d at 937-38.  Such harm by itself qualifies as a 

“concrete and demonstrable injury to [an organization’s] activities,” rather than a non-cognizable 

“setback to [its] abstract social interests.”  PETA, 797 F.3d at 1093.  CREW pleads precisely 

such an injury here: OSC’s refusal to commence statutorily-mandated MSPB proceedings 

against non-Senate-confirmed presidential appointees forecloses a critical “avenue of redress” 

for CREW’s Hatch Act complaints against those appointees and, in turn, “directly and 

adversely” affects CREW’s “discrete programmatic concerns.”  Id. 

 a.  Action Alliance and PETA illustrate what it means for an agency to materially impede 

an “avenue of redress.”  In Action Alliance, “four organizations that endeavor[ed], through 

informational, counseling, referral, and other services, to improve the lives of elderly citizens” 

challenged regulations promulgated by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 

(“HHS”) as inconsistent with other “government-wide regulations.”  789 F.2d at 935.  Among 

other discrepancies, the HHS regulations included a “shield clause” that was “absent from the 

general regulations,” which “immuniz[ed] from attack under the [Age Discrimination Act] the 

age distinctions . . . contained in HHS rules.”  Id.  This, in turn, “may [have] raise[d] the cost and 

difficulty of contesting a denial of services based on age distinctions in agency regulations.”  Id. 

at 937.  “By immunizing those regulations,” the Circuit explained, “the shield clause may make 

administrative review a meaningless process and leave [the plaintiffs] and its constituency with 

only one viable option: time-consuming and expensive resort to the courts.”  Id. 

 The Circuit held that the organizations adequately alleged standing.  It reasoned that that 

the shield clause, along with other provisions of the HHS regulations that restricted the plaintiffs’ 
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access to certain information, had “a direct, adverse impact on [the plaintiffs’] activities”—

namely, they “den[ied] the [plaintiffs] access to information and avenues of redress they wish to 

use in their routine information-dispensing, counseling, and referral activities.”  Id. at 937-38 

(emphasis added).  Because these harms were “both concrete and specific to the work in which 

[the plaintiffs were] engaged,” they passed the test for organizational injury.  Id. at 938. 

 The Circuit again applied this reasoning in PETA.  There, PETA sued USDA under the 

APA for failing to enforce the Animal Welfare Act (“AWA”) and implementing regulations 

against entities suspected of bird abuse.  PETA, 797 F.3d at 1091-92.  Although USDA had no 

legal obligation to investigate private complaints of animal abuse, it had a longstanding practice 

of “accept[ing] such private complaints without any apparent statutory requirement to do so.”  Id. 

at 1102 (Millett, J., dubitante).  PETA filed numerous bird abuse complaints with the agency in 

furtherance of the organization’s “mission of preventing cruelty to animals,” but USDA “refused 

to take action on these complaints, asserting that it lacks jurisdiction and that it does not regulate 

birds.”  Id. at 1095-96.  PETA argued that “USDA’s refusal to apply the AWA to birds” in 

response to PETA’s administrative complaints “‘perceptibly impaired’ PETA’s mission,” 

satisfying step one of the organizational injury test.  Id. at 1094. 

 The Circuit agreed.  Affirming this Court’s decision below, the Circuit held “that PETA 

has, at the dismissal stage, adequately shown that the USDA’s inaction injured its interests.”  Id. 

at 1095.  The court explained that PETA’s alleged injuries—including the “denial of . . . a means 

by which to seek redress for bird abuse”—were “materially indistinguishable from those alleged 

by the organizations in” Action Alliance, and were similarly “‘concrete and specific to the work 

in which [PETA was] engaged.’”  Id. (quoting Action Alliance, 789 F.2d at 938).  Specifically, 
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“the USDA’s allegedly unlawful failure to apply the AWA’s general animal welfare regulations 

to birds . . .  ‘perceptibly impaired [PETA’s] ability’ to . . . bring AWA violations to the attention 

of the agency charged with preventing avian cruelty.”  Id.; see also PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 8.1  

 CREW’s injury is materially identical to those alleged in Action Alliance and PETA.  

CREW alleges that, in “furtherance of its mission” of “ensuring integrity in government,” it 

“closely monitors and scrutinizes government officials’ conduct to identify potential Hatch Act 

violations and, where appropriate, files complaints with OSC requesting that it take legally-

mandated disciplinary action against such officials, including instituting MSPB proceedings.”  

Compl. ¶ 48.  “Since 2017, CREW has filed 32 Hatch Act complaints with OSC,” many of 

which “were against non-Senate-confirmed presidential appointees.”  Id. ¶ 49. 

 In keeping with PETA and Action Alliance, CREW further alleges that “OSC’s policy of 

categorically not filing MSPB complaints in accordance with [section] 1215 against non-Senate-

confirmed presidential appointees, and its application of that non-enforcement policy in response 

to CREW’s complaints, perceptibly impairs CREW’s ability to fulfill its mission by depriving it 

of an essential avenue of redress for Hatch Act violations” by those appointees.  Id. ¶ 50.  That 

“avenue of redress” is the MSPB enforcement scheme set forth in the CSRA, which OSC 

unlawfully refuses to apply to non-Senate-confirmed presidential appointees.  Just as USDA’s 

 
1 While PETA and Action Alliance involved two discrete organizational harms—denial of “access to information” 
and, separately, material deprivation of “avenues of redress,” PETA, 797 F.3d at 1093-97; Action Alliance, 789 F.2d 
at 937-38—those decisions, subsequent Circuit authority, and this Court’s PETA opinion make clear that either type 
of harm is independently sufficient to satisfy the organizational injury test.  In other words, the standard is 
disjunctive, not conjunctive.  See PETA, 797 F.3d at 1091-92, 1094-95 (framing two injuries as distinct); id. at 1102-
06 (Millett, J., dubitante) (same); Am. Anti-Vivisection Soc’y v. USDA, 946 F.3d 615, 618-19 (D.C. Cir. 2020) 
(finding organizational injury under PETA where agency inaction deprived plaintiff “of key information that it relies 
on” to fulfill its mission, without separately asking whether inaction also deprived plaintiff of avenues of redress); 
PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 8 (“PETA cites two injuries,” one of which was that its “animal-rights programs are 
‘perceptibly impaired’ when USDA refuses to take action in response to the group’s complaints”) (emphasis added). 
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refusal to apply the AWA to birds “‘perceptibly impaired [PETA’s] ability’ to . . . bring AWA 

violations to the attention of the agency charged with preventing avian cruelty,” PETA, 797 F.3d 

at 1095, OSC’s refusal to apply the CSRA’s enforcement scheme to presidential appointees 

wholly “preclude[s]” CREW’s Hatch Act allegations from “being brought to the attention of 

MSPB, the body statutorily charged with adjudicating Hatch Act violations and taking 

appropriate disciplinary action,” Compl. ¶ 52.   

 This harm is cognizable in its own right.  But OSC’s failure to comply with the CSRA’s 

enforcement scheme inflicts the further injury of diminishing the deterrent effect of the Hatch 

Act and CREW’s complaints, insofar as it sends “the message that there are no consequences for 

violating the Act.”  Id. ¶¶ 51-52, 55; see Int’l Union, United Auto. Workers of Am. v. Brock, 783 

F.2d 237, 247 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (organization injured where agency’s “misinterpretation of the 

statute” in response to plaintiff’s administrative complaints “remove[d] the deterrent effect on 

employers and consultants that the reporting requirements create,” which “directly interfere[d] 

with the [plaintiff’s] . . . ability to organize workers”); Fair Emp. Council of Greater Wash., Inc. 

v. BMC Mktg. Corp, 28 F.3d 1268, 1276 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (organization injured where 

defendant’s actions “may have reduced the effectiveness of” the plaintiff’s “outreach efforts”). 

 OSC’s policy of bypassing the MSPB is no minor issue—it fundamentally alters the 

statutory scheme.  “Congress . . . installed the MSPB as the administrative forum of first resort in 

the adjudication of Hatch Act enforcement cases.”  AFGE, 747 F.2d at 755.  The MSPB is 

responsible for “refining the law of prohibited political activities through the continual decision 

of cases and the coordination of the rules that emerge from them.”  Id.  This “process of applying 

administrative experience and expertise to the ever-varying fact patterns in this constitutionally 
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delicate field is one ‘that Congress necessarily anticipated would occur down through the 

years.’”  Id. (quoting Letter Carriers, 413 U.S. at 574-75).  And as OSC acknowledges, 

“Congress provided . . . the MSPB, not OSC, [with the] authority to determine whether a civil 

Hatch Act violation has occurred and, if so, whether to impose disciplinary action.”  Mot. at 20.  

Although OSC “can investigate charges and initiate [MSPB] proceedings,” it “cannot itself grant 

relief; that ultimate function is entrusted by Congress to the MSPB.”  Barnhart, 771 F.2d at 1520 

n.9.  “To a great degree, therefore, the efficacy of the OSC as a remedy depends upon the efficacy 

of the MSPB.”  Id. (emphasis added).   

 Yet the MSPB’s ability to perform its critical adjudicatory and disciplinary functions is 

contingent on OSC first complying with section 1215(a)(1).  Under that provision, OSC serves a 

gatekeeper role whereby it must “present” Hatch Act allegations to MSPB before that body can 

take any action.  By failing to fulfill that mandatory duty in response to CREW’s Hatch Act 

complaints, OSC prevents CREW’s allegations from ever reaching the MSPB and, consequently, 

directly impedes CREW’s “discrete programmatic concerns.”  PETA, 797 F.3d at 1093. 

 Moreover, CREW’s claimed injury is even stronger than PETA’s in light of differences 

in the pertinent agency complaint procedures.  Under CREW’s view of the law—which must be 

accepted as true for standing purposes, see Barker, 921 F.3d at 1124—CREW submits its Hatch 

Act complaints pursuant to provisions mandating that OSC accept and investigate private 

complaints, 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(1); 5 C.F.R. § 1800.1(d), and, if it makes the predicate 

“determination[s],” commence MSPB proceedings, 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1).  By contrast, PETA 

submitted its complaints pursuant to USDA’s wholly gratuitous practice of “accept[ing] . . . 

private complaints without any apparent statutory requirement to do so.”  PETA, 797 F.3d at 

Case 1:19-cv-03757-JEB   Document 12   Filed 05/22/20   Page 24 of 57



 
18 

 
 
 
 

1102 (Millett, J., dubitante).  If PETA had a cognizable interest in USDA’s handling of those 

gratuitously-accepted complaints, then surely CREW has such an interest with respect to its 

Hatch Act complaints.  Cf. Am. Anti-Vivisection Soc’y, 946 F.3d at 619 (holding that plaintiff’s 

“claim for standing is even stronger than was PETA’s,” because “[w]hereas PETA had standing 

even though it had no legal right to the incident reports it sought,” the “plaintiff seeks standards 

that it alleges USDA is legally required to promulgate”). 

 b.  In challenging CREW’s standing, OSC fails altogether to recognize that perceptible 

impairment of an “avenue of redress” may, by itself, qualify as harm satisfying part one of the 

organizational injury test.  Disregarding that settled principle, OSC instead makes several 

arguments that mischaracterize both the law on organizational standing and CREW’s injuries. 

 First, OSC contends that the resources CREW expended to counteract OSC’s unlawful 

conduct do not show any “impair[ment]” of CREW’s mission-critical activities, but rather show 

that those activities have continued “unabated.”  Mot. at 13-14.  But this argument conflates the 

two steps of the organizational injury test, and overlooks that the determinative harm, for 

purposes of the first step, is the lack of redress for CREW’s Hatch Act complaints.  CREW’s 

resource “expenditures” in response to OSC’s inaction are “merely a symptom of that 

programmatic injury,” not injuries in themselves.  League of Women Voters of United States v. 

Newby, 838 F.3d 1, 9 (D.C. Cir. 2016); see also Fair Emp. Council, 28 F.3d at 1277 (explaining 

that “Havens . . . did not base standing on the diversion of resources from one program to 

another, but rather on the alleged injury that the defendants’ actions themselves had inflicted 

upon the organization’s programs,” and that resources expended “to ‘counteract’ the defendants’ 

assertedly illegal practices” were “simply another manifestation” of that programmatic injury). 
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OSC’s position misstates the law in other respects, too.  For one thing, CREW’s 

continued filing of Hatch Act complaints with OSC following its non-enforcement decision as to 

Conway in no way undercuts CREW’s injury.  See Mot. at 13-16 & n.1.  In PETA, for example, 

PETA continued submitting bird abuse complaints to USDA for years after the agency made 

clear its position that the AWA does not apply to birds.  See Decl. of Jeffrey S. Kerr ¶ 7, PETA v. 

USDA, No. 13-cv-976, ECF No. 10-2 (D.D.C.) (filed Oct. 4, 2013).  PETA’s persistence in the 

face of the agency’s refusal to comply with its alleged legal duties did not defeat a finding of 

organizational injury in that case.  Nor should it here. 

At bottom, OSC’s argument rests on the flawed premise that a plaintiff seeking to show 

organizational injury must allege that the challenged action wholly prevents it from engaging in 

desired conduct in furtherance of its mission, such as filing administrative complaints.  See Mot. 

at 16 (arguing CREW “remains entirely capable” of filing Hatch Act complaints).  But that is not 

the law.  In Action Alliance, for example, the challenged “shield clause” did not entirely preclude 

the plaintiffs from “contesting a denial of services based on [discriminatory] age distinctions” in 

administrative proceedings before HHS; the clause merely “may [have] raise[d] the cost and 

difficulty” of pursuing such a challenge, and “may [have] ma[d]e administrative review a 

meaningless process.”  789 F.2d at 937.  The Circuit deemed this potential impediment to 

administrative review of a particular issue a material deprivation of an “avenue[] of redress” 

sufficient to confer an organizational injury.  Id. at 937-38.   

Similarly, here, it is true that OSC’s non-enforcement policy does not categorically bar 

CREW from filing Hatch Act complaints with OSC.  But OSC’s non-enforcement “may make 

[CREW’s submission of] administrative [complaints]” against non-Senate-confirmed 
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presidential appointees “a meaningless process,” Action Alliance, 789 F.2d at 937, and, at least 

with respect to CREW’s complaints against Conway, already has.  Compl. ¶¶ 51-52.  In any 

event, as explained above, OSC is not the agency charged with adjudicating Hatch Act violations 

and imposing disciplinary action—the MSPB is.  And insofar as OSC’s non-enforcement policy 

precludes CREW’s allegations from reaching the MSPB, it does wholly prevent CREW from 

bringing Hatch Act violations “to the attention of the agency charged with” adjudicating such 

violations.  PETA, 797 F.3d at 1095. 

 c.  OSC also asserts that CREW has failed to show any “conflict” between OSC’s non-

enforcement policy and CREW’s mission of ensuring integrity in government, because, in its 

view, CREW’s interests are equally vindicated whether OSC commences MSPB proceedings or 

simply refers Hatch Act violations to the President.  Mot. at 15-17.  But these alternative paths—

formal disciplinary proceedings in the MSPB vs. a non-binding presidential referral—could 

hardly be deemed equivalent “avenues of redress” for CREW’s Hatch Act complaints. 

 CREW has a strong programmatic interest in having its Hatch Act allegations heard and 

adjudicated specifically by the MSPB, as it is the body “Congress . . . installed . . . as the 

administrative forum of first resort in the adjudication of Hatch Act enforcement cases,” and 

charged with “refining the law of prohibited political activities through the continual decision of 

cases and the coordination of the rules that emerge from them.”  AFGE, 747 F.2d at 755.  

Through an adversarial process akin to judicial proceedings, the MSPB applies its considerable 

“administrative experience and expertise to . . . ever-varying fact patterns” to determine whether 

an employee has violated the Hatch Act and, if so, what disciplinary action to impose.  Id.  At the 

end of this process, the MSPB publicly issues its decisions, which guide application of the Hatch 
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Act in future cases, and are subject to judicial review in the Federal Circuit and Supreme Court.  

Moreover, Congress specifically intended that the MSPB exercise these adjudicatory functions in 

cases against non-Senate-confirmed presidential appointees.  See infra Part II.A.4; cf. Aetna Cas. 

& Sur. Co. v. Home Ins. Co., 882 F. Supp. 1355, 1357 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (recognizing “important 

public interest in the development of decisional law”). 

 The President, by contrast, has issued no public guidelines or procedures for adjudicating 

Hatch Act violations by presidential appointees.  There is no transparency into the decisional 

process, nor any resulting precedent to guide future cases.  The decision is instead made entirely 

at the President’s whim, even for purely arbitrary reasons or no reason at all.  For CREW’s 

organizational purposes, then, a presidential referral is hardly equivalent to MSPB enforcement.   

 OSC relies heavily on Nat’l Treasury Employees Union (“NTEU”) v. United States, 101 

F.3d 1423 (D.C. Cir. 1996), Mot. at 15-17, but that case is inapposite.  There, the Circuit held 

that a federal employees’ union suffered no organizational injury by the enactment of the Line 

Item Veto Act, because, at least in the abstract, “NTEU’s mission . . . to obtain improved worker 

conditions” was “not necessarily inconsistent with” the Act.  NTEU, 101 F.3d at 1430.  The 

Circuit explained that NTEU’s claim of mission conflict was entirely speculative: “[A] given 

President may be disinclined to exercise the item veto power as to government employee 

benefits.  We do not and cannot know at this point.  Absent a direct conflict between NTEU’s 

mission and the Line Item Veto Act, we are unsure whether NTEU’s additional expenditure of 

funds is truly necessary to” further its mission.  Id. (emphasis added).   

 Here, CREW pleads precisely the type of “direct conflict” that was missing in NTEU: 

OSC’s non-enforcement policy has resulted in a discrete failure to commence MSPB 
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proceedings in response to CREW’s Hatch Act complaints, and instead led to a presidential 

referral that was summarily rejected.  Moreover, so long as OSC continues to apply its non-

enforcement policy, a meaningful avenue of redress for CREW’s Hatch Act complaints will 

remain foreclosed, perpetuating this concrete impairment of CREW’s programmatic concerns.  

See Compl. ¶¶ 50-52. 

 d.  OSC further contends that its non-enforcement policy is “neutral” with respect to 

CREW’s mission, because it is “unknown and ‘entirely speculative’ how the MSPB would 

resolve a hypothetical Hatch Act complaint filed against Conway.”  Mot. at 16.  But that 

argument rests on the false premise—repeated throughout OSC’s brief—that CREW’s only 

interest in this suit is in having Conway disciplined or removed.  That misstates CREW’s injury, 

which is rooted not in the failure to discipline third parties, but in OSC’s failure to commence 

statutorily-mandated MSPB proceedings in response to CREW’s complaints.  In other words, 

OSC “misconstrues [CREW’s] alleged harms,” which “do not result from [violations of the 

Hatch Act] by third parties but rather from ‘lack of redress for its complaints.’”  PETA, 797 F.3d 

at 1095 (quoting PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 9).  Properly understood, CREW’s interests would be 

sufficiently vindicated by OSC’s mere commencement of MSPB proceedings against non-

Senate-confirmed presidential appointees in accordance with section 1215, regardless of whether 

the MSPB ultimately finds the appointee violated the Hatch Act or deserves disciplinary action.   

 In this sense, CREW’s injury is again identical to PETA’s.  There, it was “conceded that, 

if the USDA applie[d] the AWA’s general welfare standards to birds, it [would] employ the same 

inspection reports and redress mechanisms for birds that it currently uses for other species.”  Id.  

That was enough to show injury—it made no difference how USDA ultimately resolved PETA’s 
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complaints.  Similarly, here, if OSC were to apply the relevant CSRA provisions to non-Senate-

confirmed presidential appointees, it would necessarily “employ the same” MSPB enforcement 

“mechanisms” for those appointees that OSC “currently uses for other” federal employees.  As in 

PETA, this suffices for standing purposes. 

2. CREW Has Expended Resources to Counteract OSC’s Unlawful 
Conduct 

 
 Although OSC only disputes CREW’s ability to meet the first step of the organizational 

injury test, see Mot. at 12, 17, some of its arguments relate to the second step, which asks 

“whether the organization ‘used its resources to counteract” the challenged conduct, PETA, 797 

F.3d at 1094.  Even when analyzed under the correct legal rubric, though, OSC’s arguments fail. 

 First, OSC insists that “many of CREW’s alleged injuries are the types of harms that the 

D.C. Circuit categorically excludes as viable bases for Article III standing” because they are 

merely “‘self-inflicted budgetary choice[s].’”  Mot. at 14 (citing cases).  But, as explained supra 

Part I.A.1.b, this argument conflates CREW’s resource expenditures (step two of the 

organizational injury test) with the injury to its interests (step one).  CREW’s resource 

expenditures are “merely a symptom of [CREW’s] programmatic injury,” not injuries in 

themselves.  Newby, 838 F.3d at 9; Fair Emp. Council, 28 F.3d at 1277.  Thus, the cases OSC 

cites rejecting organizational injuries based solely on resource expenditures, without any separate 

injury to the organization’s programmatic interests, are readily distinguishable. 

 Equally unavailing is OSC’s claim that CREW’s resource expenditures are “self-

inflicted.”  The Circuit rejected an identical argument in PETA, explaining that the fact “[t]hat an 

organization ‘voluntarily, or willfully . . . diverts its resources . . . does not automatically mean 
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that it cannot suffer an injury sufficient to confer standing.’”  797 F.3d at 1096-97 (quoting 

Equal Rights Ctr., 633 F.3d at 1140).  Rather, the operative question is “whether the organization 

‘undertook the expenditures in response to, and to counteract, the effects of the defendants’ 

alleged’ unlawful acts ‘rather than in anticipation of litigation.’”  Id. at 1097.   

 CREW plainly satisfies this test.  The complaint alleges that CREW has resorted to 

“alternative avenues of redress separate and apart from its normal practice of submitting Hatch 

Act complaints to OSC” in “response to, and to counteract, OSC’s failure to institute MSPB 

proceedings against Conway as required by [section] 1215, rather than in anticipation of 

litigation.”  Compl. ¶¶ 53-54.  These “alternative avenues” have included (1) submitting a report 

to Twitter—akin to an administrative complaint CREW would have otherwise submitted to 

OSC—detailing over 50 Hatch Act violations by Conway through her Twitter account, and 

asking the company to take corrective action against her for violating the company’s terms of 

service; (2) launching, directly in response to OSC’s June 2019 non-enforcement decision, a 

multi-faceted public campaign calling for Conway’s resignation through hundreds of social 

media posts, mass emails to supporters, and a petition that has collected over 37,600 signatures; 

and (3) submitting written testimony to Congress urging it to take action to ensure that OSC 

institutes MSPB proceedings against presidential appointees in accordance with section 1215.  

Id. ¶¶ 53a-53g.  As of the filing of this suit, CREW estimated that 18 of its employees spent at 

least 175 hours on these efforts, which remain ongoing.  Id. ¶ 54.   

 CREW’s resource expenditures are similar to PETA’s, which consisted of its research of 

state, local, and non-AWA federal laws, and submission of bird abuse complaints under those 

laws.  PETA, 797 F.3d at 1096-97.  Despite OSC’s labeling of CREW’s resource expenditures as 
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“issue advocacy” or “lobbying,” such characterizations did not defeat standing in PETA, nor 

should they here.  See id. at 1097; id. at 1094 n.4 (“[M]any of our cases finding Havens standing 

involved activities that could just as easily be characterized as advocacy—and, indeed, 

sometimes are.”) (quoting ASPCA v. Feld Entm’t, Inc., 659 F.3d 13, 27 (D.C. Cir. 2011)). 

 OSC also argues that CREW has failed to show that the challenged conduct forced it “to 

divert or modify its activities in any meaningful way from its standard programmatic efforts.”  

Mot. at 15.  If OSC is suggesting a plaintiff must show some radical change in its “programmatic 

efforts,” it is wrong.  As noted, an organization need only show that it “expend[ed] resources ‘in 

response to, and to counteract, the effects of the defendants’ alleged [unlawful conduct] rather 

than in anticipation of litigation.’”  PETA, 797 F.3d at 1097.  PETA met this standard by alleging 

that USDA’s inaction required it to resort to the “alternative means” of submitting bird abuse 

complaints under laws other than the AWA, which was a departure from PETA’s “normal 

process” of submitting AWA complaints to USDA.  Id. at 1094-96.   

 As in PETA, OSC’s unlawful conduct forced CREW to resort to the “alternatives means” 

of preparing reports, petitions, and other submissions directed to Twitter, the public, and 

Congress, in order to seek redress for Conway’s continued Hatch Act violations.  Compl. ¶ 53.  

These multi-faceted efforts are a marked departure from CREW’s “normal practice” for handling 

potential Hatch Act violations—i.e., simply “submitting Hatch Act complaints to OSC.”  Id.  

This change was necessary because CREW’s “normal practice” would have been “futile in light 

of [OSC’s] June 2019 report [on Conway] and non-enforcement policy.”  Id.  In other words, 

CREW “would not need to expend (or expend to the same extent)” these resources “absent 

OSC’s failure to comply with [section] 1215,” and, if CREW prevails in this case, it “will no 
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longer need to expend as many resources pursuing [these] alternatives avenues of redress” and 

“could use those resources on other matters central to its mission.”  Compl. ¶ 56; see PETA, 797 

F.3d at 1096 (deeming identical allegations sufficient).  These allegations are more than adequate 

at the pleading stage, where “general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s 

conduct may suffice” and the court must “presum[e] that general allegations embrace those 

specific facts that are necessary to support the claim.”  Osborn, 797 F.3d at 1063-64.2 

3. CREW Has a Cognizable Interest in How OSC Responds to its Hatch Act 
Complaints 

 
 OSC contends that CREW’s claimed injury “fails in a broader sense” because there is no 

cognizable interest in enforcement of the law against third parties.  Mot. at 17-18.  But, as 

explained supra Part I.A.1.d, CREW’s injury is based not in a bare interest in having the Hatch 

Act enforced against third parties, but in the programmatic harm caused by OSC’s failure to take 

legally-required action in response to CREW’s complaints.  At any rate, OSC’s real quarrel is 

not with CREW’s position, but with D.C. Circuit precedent.  Its arguments closely track Judge 

Millett’s dubitante opinion in PETA, where she joined the majority opinion because it “hew[ed] 

faithfully” to Circuit precedent, but questioned whether that precedent adheres to other “Article 

III precedent and principles.”  797 F.3d at 1099.  OSC even cites the same cases as Judge Millett.  

 
2 OSC faults CREW for not alleging “specific projects” that it “had to put on hold or otherwise curtail” due to 
OSC’s unlawful conduct, Mot. at 15, but it cites no Circuit precedent requiring such a showing to establish 
organizational injury, let alone at the pleading stage.  Indeed, PETA adequately pleaded organizational standing 
without identifying such “specific projects.”  See Decl. of Jeffrey S. Kerr, PETA v. USDA, No. 13-cv-976, ECF No. 
10-2 (D.D.C.) (filed Oct. 4, 2013).  Nor is OSC’s position supported by International Academy of Oral Medicine & 
Toxicology v. FDA, 195 F. Supp. 3d 243 (D.D.C. 2016).  That case is inapposite because the plaintiff there pleaded a 
pure “diversion-of-resources injury,” id. at 257, whereas CREW’s injury is based on lack of redress for its 
complaints.  And this Court did not adopt any categorical rule requiring an organizational plaintiff to plead “specific 
projects” it had to put on hold; it merely stated that the conclusion that the plaintiff’s expenditures consisted solely 
of non-cognizable “issue advocacy” was “reinforced” by its failure to identify such projects.  Id. 
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Compare id. at 1099, 1102, with Mot. at 17-18.  Whether Judge Millett and OSC are correct is 

not a question for this Court to decide.  Action Alliance and PETA are the law of this Circuit. 

B. CREW Has Sufficiently Pleaded Causation and Redressability 
 
 To establish causation and redressability, a plaintiff need only show “a causal connection 

between the injury and the defendant’s conduct,” and that it is “likely, as opposed to merely 

speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.”  ASPCA v. Ringling Bros., 

317 F.3d 334, 338 (D.C. Cir. 2003).  The plaintiff “need not show that a favorable decision will 

relieve his every injury,” or that it is “certain, ultimately, to receive” its desired result.  Larson v. 

Valente, 456 U.S. 228, 243 n.15 (1982); see also Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. 497, 526 

(2007) (finding redressability where “risk of catastrophic harm” could be “reduced to some 

extent if petitioners received the relief they seek”); Duberry v. D.C., 924 F.3d 570, 583 (D.C. 

Cir. 2019) (relief need only “constitute a ‘necessary first step on a path that could ultimately lead 

to relief fully redressing the [claimant’s] injury’”).   

 Here, as in PETA, once the issue of organizational injury is resolved in CREW’s favor, 

“[c]ausation and redressability are simpler matters.”  PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 9; see PETA, 797 

F.3d at 1093 n.3 (adopting this Court’s reasoning on causation and redressability).  That is 

because “[i]t is clear that the injur[y] complained of—[OSC’s] refusal to take enforcement action 

in response to [CREW’s] complaints . . . —[is] caused by the agency.”  PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 9.  

And it is equally “clear that the remedies sought”—an order declaring OSC’s conduct unlawful 

and compelling it to apply the CSRA’s enforcement scheme to non-Senate-confirmed 

presidential appointees—would “redress” CREW’s injury.  Id. 

 In arguing otherwise, OSC tries to rewrite CREW’s complaint.  Starting from the false 
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premise that CREW’s real “interest” in this suit is “Conway’s removal,” OSC argues at length 

that “Conway’s non-removal” was not caused by OSC’s inaction, and cannot be redressed by 

this Court.  Mot. at 18-21.  That is a red herring.  Nothing in CREW’s complaint seeks such a 

remedy.  CREW’s requested relief is not even limited to Conway; it seeks to compel OSC to 

comply with section 1215(a)(1) in all Hatch Act cases against non-Senate-confirmed presidential 

appointees.  Compl., Prayer for Relief ¶¶ 1-6.  While CREW has, outside of this litigation, called 

for Conway’s resignation or removal (in addition to calling on OSC to institute MSPB 

proceedings as required by section 1215), Compl. ¶¶ 53a-g, that in no way undercuts CREW’s 

asserted Article III injury in this suit—i.e., material deprivation of an avenue of redress for its 

Hatch Act complaints.  Nor is there any legal basis for OSC’s extraordinary claim that a court 

may reject a plaintiff’s asserted injury and instead probe for its “ulterior interest” in filing suit.3  

Because CREW’s claimed “harms,” including “a lack of redress for its complaints,” are 

“traceable to its interactions with the agency” and would be redressed by a favorable decision, 

PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 9, it has adequately pleaded causation and redressability. 

II. Count I States an APA Claim Challenging OSC’s Failure to Commence MSPB 
Proceedings in Accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1) 

 Turning to the merits, OSC’s duty under section 1215(a)(1) could not be clearer: “if the 

Special Counsel determines” both that an employee “has violated the provisions of any law . . . 

within the jurisdiction of the Special Counsel” and that “disciplinary action should be taken 

 
3 Contrary to OSC’s assertions, the Circuit did no such thing in Sargeant v. Dixon, 130 F.3d 1067 (D.C. Cir. 1997).  
Rather, it held that the plaintiff lacked standing based on his “proffer[ed]” interest in the “prosecution of 
government officials and in seeing that the laws are enforced,” and rejected a secondary argument that the plaintiff 
had an interest “merely in ‘being heard’” by a grand jury because that was simply a reformulation of the plaintiff’s 
asserted “interest in seeing certain persons prosecuted.”  Id. at 1069 (emphasis added). 
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against” the employee, “the Special Counsel shall prepare a written complaint against the 

employee containing the Special Counsel’s determination, together with a statement of 

supporting facts, and present the complaint and statement to the employee and” the MSPB.  5 

U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1) (emphasis added).  Count I alleges that OSC made both “determinations” in 

Conway’s case, finding that she repeatedly violated the Hatch Act and that those violations 

warranted disciplinary action.  Compl. ¶ 63.  Despite making these determinations, “OSC chose 

not to file an MSPB complaint against her” and, in turn, violated section 1215(a)(1).  Id. ¶¶ 63-

65.  Under the APA, the Court may compel OSC’s compliance with this mandatory statutory 

duty.  See 5 U.S.C. § 706; Norton v. S. Utah Wilderness All., 542 U.S. 55, 63-64 (2004). 

 Seeking to avoid section 1215(a)(1)’s clear directive, OSC claims that a later-enacted 

statute repealed or amended section 1215(a)(1) as it relates to WHO employees, that other 

provisions of the CSRA render OSC’s challenged actions unreviewable, and that CREW’s claim 

raises “separation of powers concerns.”  Mot. at 21-39.  Each argument fails. 

A. OSC Fails to Meet its “Heavy Burden” to Show that a Later-Enacted Statute 
Impliedly Repealed or Amended the CSRA’s Enforcement Scheme as it 
Relates to White House Office Employees 

 
 OSC first asserts that section 1215(a)(1) was repealed in part by a later-enacted statute, 3 

U.S.C. § 105(a)(1).  That statute provides that “the President is authorized to appoint and fix the 

pay of employees in the White House Office without regard to any other provision of law 

regulating the employment or compensation of persons in the Government service.”  Id.  OSC 

argues that section 1215(a)(1) is a “provision of law regulating the employment or compensation 

of persons in the Government service” and “is therefore superseded by the later-enacted and 

more specific 105(a)” with respect to WHO employees.  Mot. at 23. 
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 Because section 105(a)(1) does not expressly repeal or amend section 1215(a)(1), OSC’s 

argument is necessarily one of repeal or amendment “by implication.”  Under longstanding 

Supreme Court precedent, such “argument[s] face[] a stout uphill climb.”  Epic Sys. Corp. v. 

Lewis, 138 S. Ct. 1612, 1624 (2018); see also Vill. of Barrington, Ill. v. Surface Transp. Bd., 636 

F.3d 650, 662 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (recognizing that implied partial repeals and implied amendments 

are “conceptually identical” and subject to the same standards).  That is because, “[w]hen 

confronted with two Acts of Congress allegedly touching on the same topic,” courts are “not at 

‘liberty to pick and choose among congressional enactments’ and must instead strive ‘to give 

effect to both.’”  Epic, 138 S. Ct. at 1624.  Thus, “[a] party seeking to suggest that two statutes 

cannot be harmonized, and that one displaces the other, bears the heavy burden of showing ‘a 

clearly expressed congressional intention’ that such a result should follow.”  Id. (emphasis 

added).  “And in approaching a claimed conflict, we come armed with the ‘stron[g] 

presum[ption]’ that repeals by implication are ‘disfavored’ and that ‘Congress will specifically 

address’ preexisting law when it wishes to suspend its normal operations in a later statute.”  Id.  

Statutes should be deemed “irreconcilably conflicting” only “where ‘there is a positive 

repugnancy between them’ or ‘they cannot mutually coexist.’”  Howard v. Pritzker, 775 F.3d 

430, 437 (D.C. Cir. 2015).  Ultimately, the “guiding principle to reconciliation of . . . two 

statutory schemes” is that “[r]epeal is to be implied only if necessary to make the (later enacted 

law) work, and even then only to the minimum extent necessary.”  Id. 

 Applying these “demanding standards” here, OSC falls far short of its “heavy burden” to 

show that section 105(a)(1) “irreconcilably conflicts” with, and thus repeals, section 1215(a)(1) 

as it relates to WHO employees.  To the contrary, the two statutes can be readily harmonized. 
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 1.  Section 105(a)(1) is logically divided into two parts.  The first part authorizes the 

President “to appoint and fix the pay of employees in the White House Office.”  3 U.S.C. § 

105(a)(1).  The second part insulates that authority by specifying that it may be exercised 

“without regard to any other provision of law regulating the employment or compensation of 

persons in the Government service.”  Id.  The plain meaning of such a “without regard to” clause 

is to exempt the substantive authority conferred—here, the President’s power “to appoint and fix 

the pay” of WHO employees—from otherwise applicable laws.  See Am. Hosp. Ass’n v. Bowen, 

834 F.2d 1037, 1053-54 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (noting that “plain meaning” of statute vesting agency 

with “contracting authority” that “may be carried out without regard to any provision of law 

relating to the making, performance, amendment, or modification of contracts of the United 

States” was to exempt the agency’s contracting decisions from otherwise applicable government 

contract laws).  Thus, section 105(a)(1) overrides other statutes only insofar as they directly 

conflict with the President’s authority “to appoint and fix the pay” of WHO employees.  This 

reading also respects the “guiding principle” of construing any repeal “to the minimum extent 

necessary.”  Howard, 775 F.3d at 437. 

 So construed, section 105(a)(1) does not “irreconcilably conflict” with section 

1215(a)(1).  For starters, section 1215(a)(1) only requires OSC to commence MSPB proceedings, 

and the mere commencement of such proceedings against a WHO employee in no way conflicts 

with the President’s power “to appoint and fix the pay” of that employee.  Nor is it inevitable 

that such a conflict will arise after MSPB proceedings commence.  To the contrary, OSC is free 

to seek, and the MSPB can ultimately impose, discipline wholly unrelated to the employee’s 

continued “employment or compensation,” including a civil penalty of $1,112 per violation or 
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even a reprimand.  5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(3)(A); id. § 7326; 5 C.F.R. § 1201.126(a).  Any “conflict” 

could only arise if OSC itself explicitly requested, and the MSPB agreed to impose, a form of 

discipline intruding on the President’s section 105(a)(1) powers.  But it is entirely within OSC’s 

power to not seek such discipline, and instead seek only monetary penalties or a reprimand.  

Thus, because the two statutes are plainly “capable of co-existence,” this Court has a “duty” to 

“regard each as effective.”  Howard, 775 F.3d at 437; see also N.Y. Republican State Comm. v. 

SEC, 927 F.3d 499, 507 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (“We do not take this duty lightly.”). 

 2.  OSC’s arguments to the contrary are unavailing.4  First, OSC construes section 

105(a)(1) as comprehensively displacing (as to WHO employees) any “law regulating the 

employment . . .  of persons in the Government service,” not just those laws posing a direct 

conflict with the President’s authority “to appoint and fix the pay” of WHO employees.  Mot. at 

23-24, 27.  In addition to being unsupported by the statute’s plain text, OSC’s sweeping 

construction is incompatible with the “guiding principle” of construing any repeal “to the 

minimum extent necessary.”  Howard, 775 F.3d at 437.  Moreover, the legislative history cited 

by OSC does not reflect any congressional intent to broadly displace all laws governing WHO 

employees, but rather only those laws directly conflicting with the President’s “discretion” as to 

 
4 OSC makes two threshold claims that warrant only brief mention.  It first suggests, with no supporting analysis, 
that merely subjecting a WHO employee “to the burdens of an MSPB hearing would impede [the employee’s] 
ability to perform duties as prescribed by the President.”  Mot. at 23.  But nothing in section 105(a)(1) broadly 
immunizes WHO employees from the mere “burdens” of a hearing, particularly one that can only take place in the 
limited circumstances of OSC having determined both that the employee has violated federal law, and that the 
violation is serious enough to warrant disciplinary action.  OSC also points “to the circumstances of this case,” in 
which OSC recommended that the President remove Conway, to show a potential interference with the President’s 
authority “to appoint and fix the pay” of WHO employees.  Id.  But such case-specific analysis is immaterial to the 
broader question of whether the two statutory schemes “irreconcilably conflict.”  In any event, OSC is free to pursue 
any disciplinary measures it deems appropriate before the MSPB, regardless of its prior recommendation to the 
President. 
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the “employment, removal, and compensation” of WHO employees.  Mot. at 25 (quoting H.R. 

Rep. No. 95-979, at 6 (1978); S. Rep. No. 95-868, at 7 (1978)).  As explained above, section 

1215(a)(1) is not such a law.  If Congress wanted to repeal all statutory disciplinary processes 

and penalties applicable to WHO employees—even those penalties having no bearing on the 

employee’s continued “employment” or “compensation”—Congress needed to express a “clear 

and manifest” intent to do so.  Epic, 138 S. Ct. at 1624.  It did not. 

 Indeed, OSC’s broad reading of section 105(a)(1) has troubling implications: it would 

seemingly immunize WHO employees from any monetary penalty relating to their government 

employment unless imposed by the President himself.  This runs counter to the longstanding 

authority and practice of federal agencies to independently pursue monetary penalties against 

White House employees for a variety of infractions tied to their public office.5  Nothing in 

section 105(a)(1) reflects a congressional intent to so immunize WHO employees. 

 3.  OSC next cobbles together cases construing various statutory provisions it analogizes 

to the “without regard to” clause in section 105(a)(1), in support of the general proposition that 

such clauses “effectively . . . nullif[y]” statutes that “otherwise might apply.”  Mot. at 24.  This 

argument fails on many levels.  To begin, it wholly disregards the strong presumption against 

 
5 See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. § 216(b) (authorizing Attorney General to seek civil penalty of up to $50,000 for violations of 
several statutes restricting conduct of federal officials); Berger Agrees to Pay Penalty, CNN, Nov. 10, 1997, 
available at https://cnn.it/2LanzEw (noting payment of such penalties by President Clinton’s National Security 
Adviser to settle suit brought by Department of Justice); 5 U.S.C. app. § 104(a) (authorizing Attorney General to 
seek civil penalty of up to $50,000 for knowing and willful falsification of, or failure to file, public financial 
disclosure reports required under the Ethics in Government Act); Complaint, United States v. Newman, No. 19-cv-
1868, ECF No. 1 (D.D.C. June 25, 2019) (seeking such penalties against former White House Director of 
Communications); 5 U.S.C. app. § 104(d) (authorizing imposition of $200 fee for late-filed public financial 
disclosure reports required under the Ethics in Government Act); Anita Kumar and Ben Wieder, Jared Kushner fined 
again for late ethics form, Ivanka Trump fined too, McClatchy, Oct. 3, 2017, available at https://bit.ly/2WdDOH0 
(noting assessment of such late fees against two senior White House advisers). 
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implied repeals.  It also mischaracterizes the cited cases, none of which support the general rule 

OSC ascribes to them.  For example, in Bowen, 834 F.2d at 1053-54, the Circuit considered a 

challenge to an agency’s discrete exercise of certain “contracting authority” under a statute that 

conferred that authority “without regard to” other laws regulating government contracts.  That is 

very different from this case, where there is no challenge to a specific exercise of the President’s 

power “to appoint and fix the pay” of WHO employees under section 105(a)(1).  Rather, OSC 

claims that the mere existence of the President’s statutory authority has the effect of occupying 

the entire field, affirmatively “nullif[ying]” laws otherwise applicable to WHO employees even 

absent an “irreconcilable conflict” with the President’s authority.  Neither Bowen nor any other 

case cited by OSC support that proposition.  

 Other cases cited by OSC are inapposite because they address the unique situation of 

when a statute directs an agency to reinstate a rule challenged in litigation “without regard to” 

other provisions of law.  The effect of such a statute is to expressly amend the law applicable in a 

particular case, thus rendering the presumption against implied repeals or amendments 

inapplicable.  See All. for the Wild Rockies v. Salazar, 672 F.3d 1170, 1174 (9th Cir. 2012) 

(general “rule . . . requiring repeal of a law to be explicit[]” does not apply where Congress does 

“not repeal, but ‘amend[s]’ . . . the . . . laws applicable to a specific case” (citing Robertson v. 

Seattle Audubon Soc., 503 U.S. 429, 440 (1992)); id. at 1174-75 (where statute directed agency 

to reissue rule challenged in litigation “‘without regard to any other provision of statute or 

regulation that applies to issuance of such rule,’” it had effect of “amend[ing]” the “law 

applicable to that” litigation); Friends of Animals v. Jewell, 824 F.3d 1033, 1045 (D.C. Cir. 

2016) (construing similar express amendment); Nat’l Coal. to Save Our Mall v. Norton, 269 F.3d 
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1092, 1097 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (same).  Because there was no such express statutory amendment 

here, these cases are distinguishable and the presumption against implied repeals applies. 

 4.  OSC also cites cases holding that certain statutes otherwise applicable to federal 

agencies do not apply to some White House components.  Mot. at 25-26.  But those cases turned 

on the particularities of the statutes at issue, and, unlike those statutes,6 the Hatch Act and CSRA 

reflect a clear congressional intent to cover WHO employees.  Indeed, OSC concedes “that the 

substantive prohibitions of the federal Hatch Act . . . apply to WHO employees because an 

‘Executive agency’ as defined in 5 U.S.C. § 7322(1) includes the WHO.”  Mot. at 27.  Nor does 

OSC dispute that the CSRA’s general “disciplinary” scheme, set forth in section 1215, applies to 

WHO employees (though it insists, erroneously, that it was “superseded” by section 105(a)(1)).  

That is so because the CSRA incorporates Title 5’s definition of “employee,” which includes “an 

officer and an individual . . . appointed in the civil service[7] by . . . the President,” 5 U.S.C. § 

2105, and section 1215 applies to such “employees,” id. § 1215. 

 This understanding is reinforced by the fact that Congress explicitly exempted Senate-

confirmed presidential appointees from section 1215’s general disciplinary scheme, and directed 

that OSC refer those appointees “to the President for appropriate action in lieu of” presenting a 

complaint to the MSPB.  Id. § 1215(b) (exempting “employee[s] in a confidential, policy-

 
6 See Kissinger v. Reporters Comm. for Freedom of the Press, 445 U.S. 136, 156 (1980) (FOIA’s “legislative 
history” is “unambiguous . . . in explaining that . . . the Office of the President” is not a covered “‘agency’ under the 
FOIA”); Sweetland v. Walters, 60 F.3d 852, 853-55 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (relying on same legislative history in holding 
that the “Executive Residence is not an ‘agency’ for the purposes of FOIA”); Haddon v. Walters, 43 F.3d 1488, 
1489-90 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (“Executive Residence” is not an “executive agency” under 5 U.S.C. § 105 because it is 
not an “Executive department, a Government corporation, [or] an independent establishment.”).   
 
7 “The ‘civil service’ consists of all appointive positions in the executive, judicial, and legislative branches of the 
Government of the United States, except positions in the uniformed services.”  5 U.S.C. § 2101(1).   
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making, policy-determining, or policy-advocating position appointed by the President, by and 

with the advice and consent of the Senate”); see also id. § 1204(e)(2)(A) (exempting 

“employee[s] appointed by the President by and with the advice and consent of the Senate” from 

certain MSPB disciplinary authority).  Congress would not have exempted a discrete category of 

presidential appointees from section 1215’s disciplinary scheme unless it understood that section 

1215 generally applies to presidential appointees in the first instance, including non-Senate-

confirmed WHO appointees serving in “confidential, policy-making, policy-determining, or 

policy-advocating position[s].”  Moreover, “[w]here Congress explicitly enumerates certain 

exceptions to a general prohibition, additional exceptions are not to be implied, in the absence of 

evidence of a contrary legislative intent.”  Hillman v. Maretta, 569 U.S. 483, 496 (2013).8   

 In a similar vein, the CSRA’s establishment of separate disciplinary schemes for Senate-

confirmed presidential appointees, 5 U.S.C. § 1215(b), members of the uniformed services, id. § 

1215(c), and state and local employees, id. § 1505, shows that Congress knew how to create 

special procedures, distinct from section 1215’s general scheme, for different types of officials.  

“The fact that Congress chose to” create discrete disciplinary schemes for certain types of 

officials, “but not others, indicates a deliberate congressional choice with which the courts 

should not interfere.”  Cent. Bank of Denver v. First Interst. Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164, 184 

 
8 The CSRA’s legislative history further indicates that Congress considered and rejected the notion of exempting all 
presidential appointees from the MSPB enforcement scheme.  A House committee print of a companion bill, dated 
June 15, 1978, would have required OSC to refer complaints against all presidential appointees to the President.  See 
Staff of H. Comm. on Post Office and Civil Service, 95th Cong., CSRA 33, § 1204(h)(2) (Comm. Print June 15, 
1978).  But that bill did not pass.  The Senate version that was ultimately enacted employs similar language, but, as 
reflected in the now-codified section 1215(b), limits the exception to Senate-confirmed appointees.  See FDA v. 
Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120, 144 (2000) (rejecting interpretation of statute where “Congress 
considered and rejected bills” embodying that interpretation); Doe v. Chao, 540 U.S. 614, 622 (2004). 

Case 1:19-cv-03757-JEB   Document 12   Filed 05/22/20   Page 43 of 57



 
37 

 
 
 
 

(1994); see also Council for Urological Interests v. Burwell, 790 F.3d 212, 221 (D.C. Cir. 2015) 

(provision showing “Congress knew how to permit [certain conduct] . . . suggest[ed] that [its] 

omission in [another] context was deliberate”).9 

 5.  OSC lastly resorts to policy concerns, claiming that it “makes practical sense” to 

construe section 105(a)(1) as repealing the CSRA’s enforcement scheme as it relates to WHO 

employees.  Mot. at 27-28.  But such arguments carry no weight in the context of implied 

repeals, which are “disfavored” precisely because of the fear that “[a]llowing judges to pick and 

choose between statutes risks transforming them from expounders of what the law is into 

policymakers choosing what the law should be.”  Epic, 138 S. Ct. at 1624.  In any event, OSC’s 

policy arguments—like many of its other arguments—overlook that MSPB discipline can come 

in the form of monetary penalties or a reprimand, and need not entail removal, suspension, or 

any other action affecting the WHO employee’s continued employment or compensation. 

B. OSC’s Commencement of MSPB Proceedings under 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1) is 
Not “Committed to Agency Discretion by Law”  

 Section 1215(a)(1) imposes an unequivocal command: OSC “shall” commence MSPB 

proceedings against an employee where, as in Conway’s case, it has explicitly “determine[d]” 

that the employee “violated” the Hatch Act and that “disciplinary action should be taken.”  The 

D.C. Circuit has repeatedly recognized that OSC may be compelled through mandamus to 

perform similar non-discretionary enforcement duties under the CSRA, including its mandatory 

duty to “investigate a complaint.”  Barnhart, 771 F.2d at 1525-26 (citing cases).  Yet OSC insists 

 
9 OSC tries to ascribe some significance to the fact that a 1996 law extending a variety of workplace protections to 
White House employees did not “extend” the CSRA’s disciplinary scheme to WHO employees.  Mot. at 26.  But no 
such “exten[sion]” was necessary because, as explained above, that scheme already applied to WHO employees. 
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that its commencement of MSPB proceedings under section 1215(a)(1) is “committed to agency 

discretion by law” and thus unreviewable under the APA.  Mot. at 28-37.  OSC is wrong. 

 1.  The APA bars judicial review of “agency action . . . committed to agency discretion 

by law.”  5 U.S.C. § 701(a)(2).  The Supreme Court has construed this exception “quite 

narrowly, restricting it to ‘those rare circumstances where the relevant statute is drawn so that a 

court would have no meaningful standard against which to judge the agency’s exercise of 

discretion.’”  Dep’t of Commerce v. New York, 139 S. Ct. 2551, 2568 (2019); see Chaney, 470 

U.S. at 830 (exception applies only in “rare instances”); Citizens to Preserve Overton Park v. 

Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 410 (1971) (exception is “very narrow”). 

 Although Chaney held that “an agency’s decision not to take enforcement action” is 

“presumptively unreviewable,” it made equally clear that “the presumption may be rebutted 

where the substantive statute has provided guidelines for the agency to follow in exercising its 

enforcement powers.”  470 U.S. at 832-33.  The Court explained that “Congress may limit an 

agency’s exercise of enforcement power if it wishes, either by setting substantive priorities, or by 

otherwise circumscribing an agency’s power to discriminate among issues or cases it will 

pursue.”  Id. at 833.  Thus, non-enforcement decisions are reviewable “if the operative statute 

provides clear guidelines by which to do so, or otherwise evinces an intent to constrain the 

[agency’s] discretion.”  Drake v. FAA, 291 F.3d 59, 71 (D.C. Cir. 2002); see also Physicians for 

Soc. Responsibility v. Wheeler, 956 F.3d 634, 643 (D.C. Cir. 2020) (regardless of whether 

Chaney or Overton Park standard applies, “judicial review is available where there are 

‘meaningful standards to cabin the agency’s otherwise plenary discretion’”). 
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 This standard is met where, as here, a statute requires an agency to take clearly-defined 

enforcement action upon making certain “determinations” or “findings.”  The Chaney Court 

pointed to its decision in Dunlop v. Bachowski, 421 U.S. 560 (1975), as presenting such “an 

example of statutory language which supplied sufficient standards to rebut the presumption of 

unreviewability.”  Chaney, 470 U.S. at 833.  Much like the CSRA, the statute in Dunlop 

“provided that, upon filing of a[n administrative] complaint by a union member, ‘[t]he Secretary 

[of Labor] shall investigate such complaint and, if he finds probable cause to believe that a 

violation . . . has occurred . . . he shall . . . . bring a civil action.’”  Id.  Dunlop held that the 

Secretary’s failure to file suit under this provision was reviewable, and Chaney reaffirmed that 

holding because “[t]he statute being administered quite clearly withdrew discretion from the 

agency and provided guidelines for exercise of its enforcement power” by requiring the agency 

to “file suit if certain ‘clearly defined’ factors were present.”  Id.  

 Similarly, in National Wildlife Federation v. EPA, 980 F.2d 765, 767 (D.C. Cir. 1992), 

the Circuit construed a statute requiring the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) to 

“initiate proceedings to withdraw a state’s primary enforcement responsibility . . . for national 

drinking water standards” if EPA “formally ‘determine[s]’ pursuant to . . . the Act that the state 

no longer meets primacy requirements.”  In deeming EPA’s adherence to this statute reviewable 

under Chaney, the court explained “the statute withdraws discretion from the agency and 

provides guidelines for the exercise of enforcement power at the point a determination of 

noncompliance has been made,” even though, prior to that point, the agency had discretion over 

“whether to make such a determination in the first instance.”  Id. at 774 (citing Dunlop, 421 U.S. 

at 560; Chaney, 470 U.S. at 833) (emphasis added). 
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 These cases compel a finding of reviewability here.  The CSRA provides that OSC “shall 

. . . conduct an investigation of any allegation concerning . . . political activity prohibited under” 

the Hatch Act, 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(1), and, if it thereafter “determines that disciplinary action 

should be taken against any employee for having . . . violated” the Hatch Act, OSC “shall” 

commence MSPB proceedings against the employee, id. § 1215(a)(1).  This is materially 

identical to the statute in Dunlop, which Chaney deemed sufficient “to rebut the presumption of 

unreviewability” because it unequivocally required the agency to “file suit if certain ‘clearly 

defined’ factors were present.”  Chaney, 470 U.S. at 833-34.  Section 1215(a)(1) is also akin to 

the statute in National Wildlife in that it triggers a mandatory enforcement duty once the agency 

explicitly makes certain “determinations.” 

 Indeed, section 1215(a)(1) is not some vague enforcement edict with fuzzy contours; it is 

a concrete mandate triggered at a carefully-delineated point in the OSC’s enforcement process—

i.e., after OSC has completed its investigation, and “determine[d]” both that an employee 

“violated” the Hatch Act and that “disciplinary action should be taken.”  And the specific 

enforcement action OSC must take is equally well defined.  See 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a) (outlining 

detailed procedures for OSC’s “present[ation]” of complaint to MSPB and ensuing proceedings); 

cf. Balt. Gas & Elec. Co. v. FERC, 252 F.3d 456, 461 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (non-enforcement 

decision unreviewable where statute was “utterly silent on the manner in which the [agency] is to 

proceed against a particular transgressor”).  Like the statute in National Wildlife, 980 F.2d at 

774, the CSRA does give OSC discretion as to the “determination[s] in the first instance” of 

whether the employee’s conduct violates the Hatch Act, and, if so, whether it warrants 

disciplinary action.  But once OSC explicitly “determines” these predicates are met (as it did in 
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Conway’s case), its discretion is at an end, and it “shall” commence MSPB proceedings.  See 

Cook v. FDA, 733 F.3d 1, 7 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (“The word ‘shall’ generally indicates a command 

that admits of no discretion on the part of the person instructed to carry out the directive.”). 

 2.  Unable to overcome section 1215(a)(1)’s plain text, OSC insists that the provision’s 

mandatory “shall” is superseded by a permissive “may” in a separate provision of a different 

section of the CSRA, section 1216(c).  Mot. at 29-30.  But a close reading of the statute readily 

refutes that claim. 

 OSC’s core duties are detailed in three CSRA sections: section 1214 concerns “prohibited 

personnel practices”; section 1216 outlines “[o]ther matters within” OSC’s jurisdiction, 

including Hatch Act violations; and section 1215 comprehensively sets forth the “disciplinary 

actions” employees face for violating “any law” within OSC’s jurisdiction.  5 U.S.C. §§ 1214, 

1216, 1215.  The term “prohibited personnel practices” (“PPP”) refers to 14 prohibited 

employment-related actions enumerated in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(1)-(14).  Section 1214, in turn, 

provides detailed procedures OSC must follow in handling PPP complaints.10  Although section 

1214 makes these procedures mandatory for PPP complaints, section 1216(c), on which OSC 

now relies, provides that “[i]f the Special Counsel receives an allegation concerning any matter 

under paragraph (1) [covering the Hatch Act], (3), (4), or (5) of subsection (a), the Special 

Counsel may investigate and seek corrective action under section 1214 and disciplinary action 

under section 1215 in the same way as if a prohibited personnel practice were involved.”  5 

 
10 These mandatory procedures require OSC to, among other things, provide a PPP complainant with written 
confirmation of receipt of the complaint, 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(1)(B); regular status reports of its investigation, id. § 
1214(a)(1)(C); advanced notice of its intent to terminate the investigation together with proposed findings of fact 
and legal conclusions, on which the complainant may submit written comments, id. § 1214(a)(1)(D); and a detailed 
explanation for any final decision to terminate its investigation, id. § 1214(a)(2)(A).   
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U.S.C. § 1216(c) (emphasis added).  In other words, section 1216(c) makes clear that the PPP 

procedures detailed in section 1214, while mandatory for PPP complaints, are optional for 

section 1216 complaints.  See Carson v. OSC, 633 F.3d 487, 495-96 (6th Cir. 2011). 

  OSC gives section 1216(c) a far broader reading, claiming that its use of the word “may” 

fully commits to agency discretion OSC’s enforcement action taken in response to section 1216 

complaints, including Hatch Act complaints.  That reading fails for several reasons.  For starters, 

it fails to give meaning to the clause “in the same way as if a prohibited personnel practice were 

involved,” which appears at the end of section 1216(c) and logically modifies the entire 

provision.  See Paroline v. United States, 572 U.S. 434, 447 (2014).  Properly understood, that 

clause confirms that section 1216(c) merely gives OSC discretion to handle section 1216 

complaints “in the same way as” PPP complaints, i.e., in accordance with section 1214’s 

procedural requirements.  It does no more than that, and certainly reflects no intent to supersede 

section 1215(a)(1)’s clear command that OSC commence MSPB proceedings upon making the 

specified “determinations”—a freestanding obligation that applies by its own terms to violations 

of “any law . . . within the jurisdiction of the Special Counsel as described in section 1216,” 

including the Hatch Act.  5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1)(B) (emphasis added). 

 Indeed, OSC’s position is incompatible with its own reading of other provisions in 

section 1216.  OSC concedes that section 1216(a) imposes “a mandatory duty to investigate” 

Hatch Act complaints.  Mot. at 30, 36.  Yet section 1216(c) states only that OSC “may 

investigate” such complaints.  If section 1216(c)’s use of “may” does not render OSC’s 

mandatory duty to investigate under section 1216(a) discretionary, it cannot have that effect on 
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OSC’s mandatory duty to commence MSPB proceedings under section 1215(a)(1).  OSC’s 

attempt to “reconcile” this obvious inconsistency effectively rewrites the statute.  Mot. at 35-36. 

 OSC also makes much of the fact that section 1216, rather than section 1215, vests OSC 

with jurisdiction over Hatch Act violations.  Mot. at 32-33.  But regardless of which provision 

grants OSC jurisdiction, it is section 1215 that comprehensively describes the “disciplinary 

actions” employees face for violating “any law” within that jurisdiction, including the Hatch Act.  

5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1)(B).  Even the most charitable understanding of OSC’s interpretation 

would render section 1215(a)(1)’s “shall” command meaningless in Hatch Act cases.11 

 OSC’s reliance on Carson, 633 F.3d at 487, is misplaced.  Mot. at 34-35.  There, the 

Sixth Circuit held that OSC was not required to follow section 1214’s PPP complaint procedures 

in handling a “prohibited activity” complaint under section 1216 because, under section 1216(c), 

OSC’s decision “whether to follow section 1214’s procedural requirements” in handling a 

section 1216 complaint was “discretionary.”  Carson, 633 F.3d at 495-96.  But the section 1214 

procedures sought to be invoked in Carson could only have applied to the plaintiff’s section 

1216 complaint through the discretionary mechanism of section 1216(c).  Here, by contrast, no 

resort to section 1216(c) is necessary because section 1215(a)(1) applies by its own terms to 

Hatch Act violations.  See 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1)(B). 

 Second, even if there were any conflict between sections 1215(a)(1) and 1216(c), section 

1215(a)(1) would plainly control.  As OSC recognizes, any such conflict can be resolved using 

 
11 The above discussion ascribing independent significance to section 1216(c) refutes OSC’s claim that CREW’s 
reading renders that provision “superfluous.”  Mot. at 33-44.  OSC’s reading, meanwhile, finds little support in the 
“canon against surplusage” because it fails to give “effect to every clause and word of [the] statute,” Marx v. Gen. 
Revenue Corp., 568 U.S. 371, 385 (2013)—namely, it changes the “shall” in section 1215(a)(1) to a “may.”   
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the canon of construction “that the specific governs the general.”  Mot. at 31.  “The 

general/specific canon is perhaps most frequently applied to statutes in which a general 

permission or prohibition is contradicted by a specific prohibition or permission.  To eliminate 

the contradiction, the specific provision is construed as an exception to the general one.”  

Mittleman v. Postal Reg. Comm’n, 757 F.3d 300, 306 (D.C. Cir. 2014).  But that canon refutes, 

rather than supports, OSC’s reading because section 1215(a)(1) is the “specific provision.”   

 Section 1216 broadly concerns OSC’s jurisdiction over matters “other” than PPPs, with 

subsection (c) generally describing various actions OSC can take after “receiving an allegation” 

involving those “other matters.”  Section 1215, by contrast, applies exclusively to the 

“disciplinary” phase of OSC’s enforcement process, with subsection (a)(1) addressing a discrete 

stage of that process in which OSC has already concluded its investigation, and made the 

“determinations” that an employee has both violated the law and warrants disciplinary action.  

Thus, insofar as section 1216(c) could be construed as a broad “grant of discretionary authority 

to the Special Counsel as to how to proceed following an investigation of an allegation,” Mot. at 

32, that authority is clearly circumscribed by section 1215(a)(1), which imposes a more specific 

obligation arising at the end of OSC’s enforcement process.  See Chaney, 470 U.S. at 834 (action 

reviewable where Congress “clearly withdrew discretion from the agency and provided 

guidelines for exercise of its enforcement power”).   

 OSC insists that section 1216(c) is more “specific” than section 1215(a)(1) because it 

concerns a slightly smaller set of laws within OSC’s jurisdiction, Mot. at 31-32, but that misses 

the point.  What matters is the breadth of the agency functions contemplated by the respective 

provisions.  Section 1216(c) broadly addresses every stage of OSC’s enforcement process—from 
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its receipt of an allegation, to its investigation, to its pursuit of corrective action.  Section 

1215(a)(1), meanwhile, is limited to a discrete point in the “disciplinary” phase of OSC’s 

enforcement process, arising only after OSC has made the specified “determinations.”  It is 

inescapably narrower, and more “specific,” than section 1216(c).   

 Finally, insofar as OSC contends that section 1216(c)’s use of “may” categorically 

commits its actions to agency discretion, the Circuit has rejected similar arguments.  E.g., 

Amador Cty., Cal. v. Salazar, 640 F.3d 373, 381 (D.C. Cir. 2011); Dickson v. Secretary of 

Defense, 68 F.3d 1396, 1402 & n.7 (D.C. Cir. 1995).  In Dickson, the statute at issue provided 

that the agency “may excuse a failure to file [if it is in] the interest of justice.”  Id.  In rejecting 

the agency’s argument that the statute’s use of “may” rendered its action unreviewable, the court 

explained “this construction would mean that even if the [agency] expressly found in a particular 

case that it was in ‘the interest of justice’ to grant a waiver, it could still decline to do so.”  Id. at 

1402 n.7.  Yet that is precisely the situation here: OSC claims it can explicitly make both section 

1215(a)(1) “determinations,” but still “decline” to commence MSPB proceedings.  That result 

can be squared neither with Dickson nor section 1215(a)(1)’s plain text.12 

C. OSC’s “Separation of Powers Concerns” Are Baseless and Cannot Save its 
Clearly Erroneous Reading of 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1)  

 
 As a fallback, OSC resorts to constitutional avoidance principles, urging the Court to 

accept its reading of section 1215(a)(1) because it is “fairly possible” and would avoid “serious 

 
12 OSC also points to a separate CSRA section generally outlining OSC’s “[p]owers and functions,” which provides 
that OSC “shall . . . investigate and, where appropriate, bring actions concerning allegations of violations of other 
laws within the jurisdiction of” OSC.  5 U.S.C. § 1212(a)(5) (emphasis added).  Because the CSRA does not 
separately define “appropriate,” OSC argues there are no “meaningful standards against which to judge the agency’s 
exercise of discretion.”  Mot. 30-31.  But, as explained at length supra Part II.B.1, section 1215(a)(1) plainly 
supplies such standards. 
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separation of powers concerns.”  Mot. at 37.  While the “Supreme Court has emphasized the 

importance of ‘interpreting statutes to avoid deciding difficult constitutional questions where the 

text fairly admits of a less problematic construction,’” Judicial Watch v. U.S. Secret Serv., 726 

F.3d 208, 226 (D.C. Cir. 2013), that canon does not save OSC’s clearly erroneous reading of 

section 1215(a)(1) for several reasons. 

 To begin, OSC’s “concerns” are based on its continued mischaracterization of CREW’s 

requested relief, which would in no way authorize OSC or the MSPB to “overrule” the 

President’s employment decisions for WHO staff.  Mot. at 37-38.  CREW merely seeks to 

compel OSC to commence MSPB proceedings as required by law.  Compl., Prayer for Relief ¶¶ 

1-6.  As noted supra Part II.A.1, the mere commencement of such proceedings against a WHO 

employee has no impact their continued employment or the President’s constitutional authority, 

and OSC is free to seek discipline—such as monetary penalties or a reprimand—that likewise 

has no such impact.  

 OSC’s concerns are also speculative and, at a minimum, prematurely raised.  For those 

concerns to ever materialize, OSC would need to first commence MSPB proceedings against a 

WHO employee and itself seek a form of discipline that it deems constitutionally problematic.  

And the MSPB would have to agree that the employee violated the law and impose the requested 

discipline.  If that hypothetical chain of events ever occurs, the WHO employee surely will be 

able to assert before the MSPB the separation of powers “concerns” OSC presently raises. 

 If the Court nonetheless deems it necessary to adopt a “narrowing construction,” it should 

construe section 1215(a)(1) as requiring OSC to commence MSPB proceedings against non-

Senate-confirmed presidential appointees upon making the predicate determinations, but not 
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authorizing OSC to seek, or the MSPB to impose, disciplinary sanctions affecting a WHO 

employee’s continued employment or compensation.  This construction would both give effect to 

section 1215(a)(1) and address OSC’s purported constitutional concerns.  OSC’s reading, by 

contrast, would drastically alter the statutory scheme by wholly exempting employees from that 

scheme whom Congress intended to cover.  See supra Part II.A.4.  In other words, OSC’s 

reading is not one the statutory “text fairly admits.”  Judicial Watch, 726 F.3d at 226.  The Court 

may not ignore a clear statutory command merely to accommodate OSC’s tenuous “concerns.” 

 Lastly, separation of powers principles in no way preclude this Court from compelling 

OSC to take statutorily-mandated enforcement action.  Mot. at 38-39.  Chaney itself refutes that 

argument.  There, after acknowledging the Executive’s constitutional duty to “take Care that the 

Laws be faithfully executed,” the Court went on to conclude that “Congress may limit an 

agency’s exercise of enforcement power if it wishes, either by setting substantive priorities, or by 

otherwise circumscribing an agency’s power to discriminate among issues or cases it will 

pursue.”  Chaney, 470 U.S. at 832-33.  If Congress “has indicated an intent to circumscribe 

agency enforcement discretion, and has provided meaningful standards for defining the limits of 

that discretion, . . . courts may require that the agency follow that law.”  Id. at 834-35.  

Moreover, even OSC concedes it has a mandatory duty to investigate Hatch Act complaints, and 

the Circuit has recognized that this duty is compellable by mandamus.  Barnhart, 771 F.2d at 

1525-26; cf. Mot. at 39 (arguing that the “power to decide when to investigate . . . lies at the core 

of the Executive’s duty to see to the faithful execution of the laws”).  If compelling compliance 

with that duty does not offend the separation of powers, then nor does the requested relief here. 
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III. Count II States an APA Claim Challenging OSC’s Non-Enforcement Policy 
 
 Count II challenges OSC’s policy of non-enforcement against non-Senate-confirmed 

presidential appointees.  Compl. ¶¶ 66-71.  OSC, tellingly, does not dispute that it in fact has 

such a policy, and all but confirms as much by arguing it is statutorily prohibited from 

commencing MSPB cases against presidential appointees in the WHO.  Mot. at 23-28.  

Nonetheless, it argues that CREW has failed to sufficiently allege that the agency has a non-

enforcement policy.  Mot. at 39-42.  OSC is wrong again.  

 As this Court has noted, “the D.C. Circuit has recognized an exception” to Chaney’s 

presumption of unreviewability “where a plaintiff seeks judicial review of any agency’s ‘general 

enforcement policy.’”  PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 11 (quoting Crowley Caribbean Transp., Inc. v. 

Pena, 37 F.3d 671, 676 (D.C. Cir. 1994)).  To invoke this exception, a plaintiff must “cite to 

some kind of official, concrete statement of the agency’s general enforcement policy.”  Id. at 13. 

 CREW has done exactly that.  As identified in CREW’s complaint and attached exhibits, 

OSC announced its non-enforcement policy in its March 2018 report on Conway, where it stated: 

The U.S. Constitution confers on the President authority to appoint senior officers of the 
United States, such as Ms. Conway.  Considering the President’s constitutional 
authority, the proper course of action, in the case of violations of the Hatch Act by such 
officers, is to refer the violations to the President.  Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 1215(b), OSC 
offered Ms. Conway an opportunity to respond to this report but did not receive a 
response.  OSC hereby submits this Report of Prohibited Political Activity to the 
President for appropriate disciplinary action.  See 5 U.S.C. § 1215(b). 
 

Compl. ¶ 31 & Ex. 1 at 10 (emphasis added); see also Compl. ¶ 39 & Ex. 5 at 4 & n.5 (noting 

OSC’s June 2019 report likewise invoked section 1215(b) in making referral to President). 

 This is plainly an “official, concrete statement of the agency’s general enforcement 

policy.”  PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 13.  And the fact that it was made in the context of a particular 
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non-enforcement decision does not make it any less “official” or “concrete.”  In Crowley, the 

Circuit noted it was “conceivable that a document announcing a particular non-enforcement 

decision would actually lay out a general policy delineating the boundary between enforcement 

and non-enforcement and purport to speak to a broad class of parties” and thus permit APA 

review.  37 F.3d at 677.  That aptly describes OSC’s March 2018 report: it lays out OSC’s 

“general policy delineating the boundary between enforcement and non-enforcement” of the 

Hatch Act by explaining that for a particular “broad class of parties,” id.—i.e., “senior officers of 

the United States” appointed by “the President”—the “proper course of action, in the case of 

violations of the Hatch Act by such officers, is to refer the violations to the President” pursuant 

to “5 U.S.C. § 1215(b),” Compl. Ex. 1 at 10.  Since section 1215(b) is an exception to the MSPB 

enforcement scheme, OSC’s policy is necessarily one of non-MSPB-enforcement.  Thus, 

construing CREW’s allegations “in the light most favorable to [CREW] and with all reasonable 

inferences drawn in [its] favor,” Hurd v. D.C., 864 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 2017), CREW has 

plausibly alleged that “OSC has a policy of categorically not filing MSPB complaints against 

non-Senate-confirmed presidential appointees,” and that “OSC invoked this policy in response to 

CREW’s complaints,” Compl. ¶ 70.13 

 CREW’s allegations also stand in stark contrast to those rejected in PETA.  While PETA 

identified several instances where individual USDA employees responded to PETA’s bird abuse 

 
13 OSC incorrectly claims that CREW “concedes that ‘OSC . . . has not provided a public explanation for its failure 
to file an MSPB complaint against Conway.”  Mot. at 41 (quoting Compl. ¶ 44).  The allegation OSC quotes is 
preceded by a paragraph describing a letter CREW sent OSC, faulting the agency for “not adequately explain[ing] 
its reasoning for not filing an MSPB complaint against Conway.”  Compl. ¶ 43.  Viewed in context, the quoted 
allegation concerns OSC’s failure to adequately explain the legal basis for its non-enforcement decision—a very 
different question from whether OSC has a non-enforcement policy. 
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complaints by claiming that birds were outside the agency’s jurisdiction, it did not allege “any 

concrete statement from USDA announcing a general policy not to regulate birds under the 

AWA.”  PETA, 7 F. Supp. 3d at 12.  Moreover, USDA “affirmatively denie[d] that it ha[d] a 

general non-enforcement policy.”  Id. at 13.  Neither condition is present here.  OSC announced 

its non-enforcement policy in an official report signed by the Special Counsel himself.  Compl. 

Ex. 1.  And far from “affirmatively den[ying]” it has a non-enforcement policy, OSC all but 

confirms it does have such a policy by insisting that it is legally prohibited from commencing 

MSPB proceedings against presidential appointees in the WHO.14 

CONCLUSION 

 The Court should deny OSC’s motion to dismiss. 

 Date: May 22, 2020    Respectfully Submitted, 

      /s/ Nikhel Sus  
Nikhel S. Sus  
(D.C. Bar No. 1017937) 
Adam J. Rappaport  
(D.C. Bar No. 479866) 
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND ETHICS 
IN WASHINGTON 
1101 K St. NW, Suite 201 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
Telephone: (202) 408-5565 
Fax: (202) 588-5020 
nsus@citizensforethics.org 

 
Counsel for Plaintiff 

 
14 If the Court finds Count II deficiently pleaded, CREW respectfully requests that the Court grant it an opportunity 
to amend the complaint prior to any dismissal. 
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